SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY

DOCKET No.: 089689

MIST PHARMACEUTICALS, LLC,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

-VS-

BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIFICA-TION FROM FINAL DECISION OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY, APPELLATE DI-VISION DOCKET NO.: A-1286-22

Sat Below:

Hon. Morris Smith, J.A.D.

Hon. Lisa Rose, J.A.D.

Hon. Lisa Perez Friscia, J.A.D.

PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION OF PLAINTIFF-PETITIONER MIST PHARMACEUTICALS, LLC

LOWENSTEIN SANDLER LLP

Lynda A. Bennett (010251995)
Eric Jesse (019372009)
Of Counsel and On the Petition
One Lowenstein Drive
Roseland, New Jersey 07068
973.597.2500 (phone)
lbennett@lowenstein.com
ejesse@lowenstein.com

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED

In this insurance coverage action, the trial court dutifully followed this Court's jurisprudence and determined that Defendant Berkley Insurance Company ("Berkley") unreasonably withheld consent from its insured, Plaintiff-Petitioner Mist Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Mist"), to settle lawsuits with CelestialRX Investments, LLC ("Celestial"). Based on that breach of the insurance contract, the trial court held that Berkley was duty-bound to cover the settlement because it was reasonable and made in good faith. In reversing the trial court, the Appellate Division unnecessarily decided a novel issue in a published opinion and, in doing so, disregarded multiple precedents of this Court, eviscerating well-established principles in the field of insurance law.

First, the Appellate Division failed to heed the dictates of Griggs v. Bertram, 88 N.J. 347 (1982) and Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. Security Insurance Co., 72 N.J. 63 (1976), which hold that when an insurer fails to promptly give reasons for refusing coverage and unreasonably withholds consent for its insured to settle a lawsuit, as Berkley did here, the insurer is required to provide coverage; the insurer's new, late *post*-settlement justifications and defenses cannot unwind its responsibility for the settlement to which the insured agreed.

<u>Second</u>, the panel then erroneously resolved "a matter of first impression" that it should never have reached. In denying indemnity coverage to Mist on

summary judgment, the Appellate Division relied solely on "heavily disputed" allegations in the underlying actions rather than on actual findings and undisputed facts, in violation of <u>Flomerfelt v. Cardiello</u>, 202 N.J. 432, 444 (2010).

Third, the Appellate Division failed to construe its novel interpretation of the insurance policy's capacity exclusion narrowly against Berkley, as required by Flomerfelt, and consistent with the narrow interpretation that Berkley itself advanced for nearly five years. Thus, the Appellate Division and Berkley undermined the reasonable and settled expectations of Mist.

Those errors led to the reversal of the trial court's sound findings made after five years of active coverage litigation. This decision will have a profound adverse effect on the duties an insurance company owes to insureds. If the Appellate Division decision stands, insurers will be emboldened to play "fast and loose" when dealing with their insureds. Certification is warranted because (1) the Appellate Division decision is in direct conflict with this Court's precedents; (2) the issues raised are of general public importance, including this State's public policies to promote settlement and make efficient use of judicial and party resources; and (3) a review of the panel's opinion, which lacks both a legal and factual foundation, is in the interest of justice. See R. 2:12-4.

* * *

Berkley insured Mist and Joseph Krivulka (Mist's chairman who was

insured by Berkley in that capacity) ("Mist Insureds") under a directors and officers insurance policy with a \$2 million limit ("Policy"). The Policy insured "all Loss arising from any Claim . . . for any actual or alleged Wrongful Act" made and reported during the Policy period. (Da258.) The Policy included a capacity exclusion that applied to Claims "[b]ased upon, arising out of, directly or indirectly resulting from or in consequence of, or in any way involving any Wrongful Act of an Insured Person serving in their capacity . . . as director [or] officer . . . of [an uninsured] entity." (Da261.)

In November 2015, Celestial sued numerous defendants in the Delaware Court of Chancery, including: (i) Mist; (ii) Krivulka; and (iii) several non-insured "Krivulka family entities" ("KFEs"), in which Krivulka exercised control and had ownership interests. (Da267.) The Delaware lawsuit spawned three related actions in the state courts of Connecticut and New Jersey and another lawsuit in Delaware ("Underlying Actions"). (Da1271–72.) Celestial, an investor in Akrimax Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Akrimax"), alleged that Krivulka, as Akrimax's "controlling member," engaged in schemes to wrongly divert corporate funds and opportunities from Akrimax to Mist and the KFEs. (E.g., Da330.)

Mist sought coverage from Berkley for the Underlying Actions. However, over the years, Berkley pursued a campaign of stringing along its insured Mist with contrived excuses, unending information requests, and shifting coverage

positions to evade its responsibility to honor its duties under the Policy.

In March 2016, Berkley initially accepted its defense obligation. (Da417). In August 2017, it backflipped, abruptly denying coverage solely based on the "unjustified" position that the "Claim" against Mist was not made within the Policy period; Berkley, notably, did not raise the capacity exclusion as a basis for denying the Claim. (Da92; Da434–38.) In September 2017, Mist filed this coverage action. The trial court found Berkley's "no claim" position "groundless" and reestablished Berkley's duty to defend. (Da93; Da47.) The Appellate Division affirmed the trial court's duty-to-defend determination. (Pa22.)

When it initially accepted coverage in March 2016, Berkley interpreted the capacity exclusion narrowly, placing only a "limit" on coverage, allocating between insured and uninsured capacities, not imposing a total bar on coverage. Berkley notified Mist that "coverage for Krivulka is *limited to [conduct] in his capacity* as the chairman of Mist"; the exclusion only barred coverage *for that portion* of Krivulka's conduct on behalf of uninsured entities ("Coverage-Permitting Interpretation"). (Da413 (emphasis added).) Applying an allocation under that interpretation, Berkley agreed to cover 10% of the combined defense costs incurred by the Mist Insureds and other uninsured defendants. (Da417.)

Given Celestial's claimed damages of more than \$300 million and Mist's estimated potential exposure of \$30 million, in 2019–2020, Mist sought

Berkley's consent for the eventual \$12 million global settlement of the Underlying Actions, with twenty-five percent allocated to Mist ("Mist Settlement Portion"). (Pa11.) In response, Berkley did not inform Mist that it would deny coverage because the capacity exclusion was an absolute bar. Quite the opposite, Berkley confirmed the "existence of potentially applicable coverage" and reiterated its Coverage-Permitting Interpretation. (Dca406, 449.) Berkley told Mist that if it provided certain information, Berkley would provide settlement authority. Berkley sought "from Mist information to permit Berkley to evaluate and analyze the potential settlement value to and the exposure of Mist . . . so that Berkley can meaningfully participate in settlement discussions." (Dca402).

Mist directed Berkley to information within 12,000 pages of discovery from the Underlying Actions and proffered multiple case assessments, prepared by defense counsel, which analyzed the Mist Insureds' potential liability and exposure. (Dca401–448.) Yet no amount of information or legal analysis was sufficient for Berkley. Proceeding under the pretense that it lacked sufficient information, Berkley refused consent. (Dca412.) Ultimately, abandoned by Berkley and given the risk of a high-damages judgment, the Mist Insureds, with the other underlying defendants, agreed to the global settlement in June 2020.

Mist subsequently sought to enforce Berkley's duty to indemnify for the Mist Settlement Portion in a motion for summary judgment. Berkley, in turn,

sought a new way to avoid coverage. *After* the global settlement was reached and five years *after* receiving notice of the Underlying Actions, Berkley first revealed a different position, claiming that the capacity exclusion no longer "limited" coverage. Belatedly, Berkley argued that the allegations in the Underlying Actions – allegations Berkley had known throughout those five years – now had to be viewed through Krivulka's "dual" role in allegedly diverting assets from Akrimax (an uninsured entity) to Mist (an insured entity). No court, however, made a factual finding that Krivulka engaged in any wrongful conduct.

In an about-face, Berkley transformed its Coverage-Permitting Interpretation which had been in place from 2016 – 2020 into a "No Coverage Interpretation," arguing that the capacity exclusion afforded no coverage based on allegations of Krivulka's wrongful acts on behalf of insured and uninsured entities. Even the Appellate Division concluded that Berkley waited to raise this interpretation until *after* the June 2020 settlement: "Berkley did not raise the [dual] capacity argument *until* the exchange of pleadings and argument [in December 2020] leading to the trial court's July 7, 2021 order." (Pa22 (emphasis added).)

The trial court ultimately held that Berkley breached the Policy and ordered it to indemnify the Mist Settlement Portion. (171a.) The Policy required Berkley's "prior written consent" to a settlement, but Berkley's "consent" could "not be unreasonably withheld, provided that [Berkley] shall be entitled to full

information and all particulars it may request " (Da254.) The trial court rejected Berkley's coverage defense that Mist provided "woefully inadequate" information to evaluate the Mist Insureds' share of the defendants' overall liability. (Dca412). The record established that Berkley's representative "did not conduct any assessment of [defense counsel's] settlement recommendation" and "Berkley had the information necessary to provide consent to settle." (Da168–69, Da171). The trial court correctly held that "Berkley breached the Policy and that it acted unreasonably in refusing to grant consent to settle." (Da171.) Because of that breach, the trial court properly applied <u>Fireman's</u> and <u>Griggs</u> to require Berkley to indemnify the Mist Settlement Portion.

Instead of addressing the record as it appeared in June 2020 when Berkley breached the Policy by wrongly refusing to consent to the Mist Settlement Portion, the Appellate Division considered a "matter of first impression" raised by Berkley *after* the settlement. The panel newly framed the issue as the applicability of the capacity exclusion "where the insured director/officer is alleged to have engaged in wrongful corporate acts in a dual capacity." (Pa2.)

The Appellate Division erred for several reasons. <u>First</u>, had the panel not ignored <u>Griggs</u> and faithfully followed <u>Fireman's</u>, it would not have reached Berkley's post-settlement, novel No Coverage Interpretation. <u>Second</u>, in violation of Flomerfelt, the panel improperly allowed Berkley to deny *indemnity*

coverage *on summary judgment* based solely on admittedly "heavily disputed" allegations in the underlying complaints. (Pa4; Pa6.) The panel mistakenly determined that there were undisputed facts when *no* court found that Krivulka engaged in any wrongful corporate acts, and the Mist Insureds made no such admission. Last, the panel failed to construe the capacity exclusion narrowly. The panel did not hold Berkley to its earlier narrow Coverage Permitting Interpretation of the exclusion. Instead, the panel adopted an alternative expansive interpretation of that exclusion that did not flow from the Policy language and that should have been construed against Berkley. Adopting the new and novel interpretation, the Appellate Division wrote for Berkley a better Policy than the one it sold to Mist.

REASONS WHY CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE ALLOWED

- I. THE PANEL IMPROPERLY REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT, WHICH DUTIFULLY APPLIED THIS COURT'S DICTATES IN GRIGGS AND FIREMAN'S.
 - A. If the Appellate Division Had Followed <u>Griggs</u>, Berkley's Unreasonable Delay Would Have Precluded Consideration of the Capacity Exclusion.

For decades, this Court has held that "once an insurer has had a reasonable opportunity to investigate, or has learned of grounds for questioning coverage, it then is under a duty promptly to inform its insured of its intention to disclaim coverage or of the possibility that coverage will be denied or questioned."

Griggs, 88 N.J. at 357; accord Merchants Indem. Corp. v. Eggleston, 37 N.J. 114, 131 (1962); Sneed v. Concord Ins. Co., 98 N.J. Super. 306, 319 (App. Div. 1967). "Unreasonable delay in disclaiming coverage . . . can estop an insurer from later repudiating responsibility under the insurance policy." Griggs, 88 N.J. at 357. That is because "[i]t would be speculative, unproductive and unfair to try to surmise or recreate what avenues the insured might otherwise have pursued That course cannot be rerun." Id. at 362. Thus, "prejudice [to the insured] should be presumed." Id. at 359.

Griggs required the Appellate Division to first determine whether Berkley "promptly" notified its insured that the capacity exclusion would result in no coverage. By the panel's own calculation, Berkley waited until five years *after* the initiation of the Underlying Actions and *after* Mist sought consent for, and entered, the settlement to announce its newly discovered No Coverage Interpretation. (See Pa22.) Inexplicably, the panel's decision never mentions Griggs.

Had the panel addressed <u>Griggs</u>, the analysis would have ended there, and Berkley would be estopped from "repudiating responsibility." <u>Id.</u> at 357. If Berkley's dallying for five years is not an "unreasonable delay in disclaiming coverage," <u>see id.</u>, then <u>Griggs</u> has no vitality. Insurers must not be permitted to strategically withhold positions, only to advance them *after* an insured seeks settlement authority and settles the case. An insured has a fundamental right to

know the rules of the game long before the game is over.

To be sure, Berkley knew all along of its "grounds for questioning coverage." Id. Berkley's 2016 claim file states that "Krivulka appears to own or control all of the entities at issue, and most of the allegations against Krivulka pertain to his position with these non-insured entities." (Dca1816). Nevertheless, from 2016–2020, Berkley led Mist to believe in "the existence of potentially applicable coverage" under its then Coverage-Permitting Interpretation of the exclusion. (Dca449.) To that end, Berkley sought information regarding "the exposure of Mist . . . so that Berkley can meaningfully participate in settlement discussions." (Dca402). If Berkley had believed that the capacity exclusion resulted in no coverage whatsoever, no information would have been necessary. In any event, by changing positions in December 2020, Berkley presumptively prejudiced Mist: the Underlying Actions had been defended and settled. "That course [could not] be rerun." Id. at 362

Because the panel never addressed <u>Griggs</u>, its reason for bypassing it is unknown. But if its justification is a stray statement that "as early as March 2016, Berkley notified Mist the capacity exclusion may apply to *either bar or limit* coverage," (Pa7 (emphasis added)), the court misread Berkley's coverage position letter. Berkley never placed Mist on notice that the exclusion could result in no coverage. Just the opposite, Berkley said there *is* "coverage for

Krivulka . . . limited" to his Mist capacity, and then adhered to that position for years when it sought information for the sole purpose of "meaningfully participat[ing] in settlement discussions." (Da413, Dca402.)

The Appellate Division's failure to enforce <u>Griggs</u> undermines an essential principle espoused by this Court that "settlement of litigation ranks high in our public policy." <u>Brundage v. Est. of Carambio</u>, 195 N.J. 575, 601 (2008). This Court favors "prompt and proactive involvement by all responsible carriers [to] promote[] the efficient use of resources of insurers, litigants, and the court." <u>Potomac Ins. Co. v Pa. Mfrs.' Ass'n Ins. Co.</u>, 215 N.J. 409, 426 (2013). The "relationship of the (insurance) company to its insured regarding settlement is one of inherent fiduciary obligation." <u>Liberman v. Emp'rs Ins. of Wausau</u>, 84 N.J. 325, 336 (1980). Permitting an insurer to withhold requested settlement authority based on undisclosed coverage positions achieves the opposite.

In addition to <u>Griggs</u>, this Court's other precedents reinforce that Berkley should be estopped from benefitting from its post-settlement No Coverage Interpretation. Equitable estoppel "is designed to prevent injustice by not permitting a party to repudiate a course of action on which another party has relied to his detriment." <u>Knorr v. Smeal</u>, 178 N.J. 169, 178 (2003). Therefore, this Court applied that doctrine to bar a late-filed motion to dismiss because "plaintiffs incurred significant expert and deposition costs" and because attorney and

judicial resources were needlessly expended on a case that should have been disposed of earlier. Id. at 180.

Here, after the settlement, Berkley repudiated its earlier Coverage-Permitting Interpretation of the capacity exclusion on which Mist detrimentally relied. Further, before raising the capacity exclusion as a "silver bullet" defense at the eleventh hour and based on allegations known to Berkley since the first hour, Berkley forced Mist to litigate a host of *other* issues over five years, such as whether a "Claim" was made within the Policy period, the Mist Insureds' share of the overall liability for the settlement, the sufficiency of information Mist provided to Berkley, the adequacy of Berkley's evaluation of the settlement opportunity, and whether Berkley unreasonably withheld consent to the settlement. Estoppel is warranted here as well.

B. The Appellate Division Erred By Not Affirming The Trial Court Based On <u>Griggs</u> and <u>Fireman's</u>.

The panel's decision also departed from <u>Griggs</u> and <u>Fireman's</u> in another material way, which should have precluded deciding the capacity exclusion. The trial court held that Berkley breached the Policy by unreasonably withholding consent to the Mist Settlement Portion. Despite having the "information necessary to provide consent," Berkley "did not conduct any assessment" based on that information. (Da168–69, Da171). The panel left undisturbed the trial court's findings on this point. The Appellate Division, moreover, did not

distinguish Fireman's as it claimed; it effectively ignored it.

Under Fireman's and Griggs, because Berkley breached the Policy, Mist was permitted to settle the Underlying Actions and recover the Mist Settlement Portion up to the Policy limit. "The breach of an insurer's covenant . . . leaves the insured free . . . to protect his own interest . . . by agreeing to a reasonable good faith settlement," and the insured can "recover from [the breaching insurer] the amount of its policy limits." Fireman's, 72 N.J. at 73. At this point, the breaching insurers' coverage defenses become unavailable, with one exception: "[t]he *only* qualifications to this rule are that the amount paid in settlement be reasonable and . . . in good faith." Griggs, 88 N.J. at 364 (emphasis added). The panel turned this Court's precedent "upside down" when it admonished the trial court for not "first address[ing] . . . the policy's capacity exclusion." (Pa15.)

Next, the panel's disregard of <u>Fireman's</u> oddly rests on Berkley's mere "assert[ion] [that] withholding consent was reasonable [because] the global settlement represented the separate interests of multiple entities not insured, and *Berkley reserved* its rights under the capacity exclusion repeatedly from its earliest communications with Mist." (Pa15 (emphasis added).)

In fact, Berkley never made that "assertion" during the defense and settlement of the Underlying Actions. Before the settlement was achieved, Berkley's lone reason for withholding consent was "woefully inadequate" information

relating to the allocation of the settlement (Dca402), not "the separate interests of multiple entities." And rather than reserve any right to *completely bar* coverage based on the exclusion, Berkley represented to Mist that Krivulka *was covered* in his Mist capacity and that if it only received information to evaluate "the potential settlement value to and the exposure of Mist," it would "meaningfully participate in settlement discussions." (Dca402).

Berkley had the information it needed. Therefore, as the trial court held, <u>Griggs</u> and <u>Firemen's</u> compelled the outcome in favor of Mist. The Appellate Division's disregard of those controlling precedents requires this Court's intervention.

II. THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRONEOUSLY RELIED ON "DIS-PUTED" ALLEGATIONS TO NEGATE BERKLEY'S DUTY TO IN-DEMNIFY BASED ON THE CAPACITY EXCLUSION.

Because it faithfully applied this Court's precedents, the trial court never reached Berkley's novel, post-settlement interpretation of the capacity exclusion. Only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact challenged" is summary judgment appropriate. Rule 4:46-2(c); see also Brill v. Guardian Life Ins. Co., 142 N.J. 520, 529 (1995). In contravention of that standard and Flomerfelt, the Appellate Division granted summary judgment to Berkley, holding it had no duty to indemnify the Mist Settlement Portion based solely on "disputed" complaint allegations and not on undisputed facts. Evidently, the

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