SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY Docket No.: 089689

MIST PHARMACEUTICALS, LLC,

Plaintiff-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

FROM FINAL DECISION OF THE

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY,

APPELLATE DIVISION

DOCKET NO.: A-001286-22

V.

BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Respondent.

SAT BELOW:

Hon. Morris Smith, J.A.D.

Hon. Lisa Rose, J.A.D.

Hon. Lisa Perez Friscia, J.A.D.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY

COUGHLIN MIDLIGE & GARLAND LLP

Adam M. Smith (043341994)

asmith@cmg.law

Laura A. Brady (025141993)

lbrady@cmg.law

Michael E. Hrinewski (025732008)

mhrinewski@cmg.law

Of Counsel and on the Brief: 350 Mount Kemble Avenue

Adam M. Smith P.O. Box 1917

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE PETITION DOES NOT SATISFY <u>RULE</u> 2:12-4.

Rule 2:12-4 instructs: "Certification will not be allowed on final judgments of the Appellate Division except for special reasons." The rule warrants certification "only" as follows:

if the appeal presents a question of general public importance which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court or is similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court; if the decision under review is in conflict with any other decision of

-

³ "Global Settlement" refers to the resolution of the Underlying Actions reached between Celestial and all defendants, which released over 28 individuals and/or entities including 12 different KFEs and Krivulka himself. (Da114; Da127.)

the same or a higher court or calls for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervision and in other matters if the interest of justice requires.

R. 2:12-4.

The instant Petition pays lip service to the rule's requirements for securing certification but devotes little time explaining how those requirements are satisfied. They are not, and the Petition presents no basis warranting certification.

II. REFUSING TO PRECLUDE BERKLEY FROM RELYING ON ITS CAPACITY EXCLUSION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH GRIGGS OR FIREMAN'S. [Responding to Error Complained Of No. 1]

Mist argues that allowing Berkley to assert the Capacity Exclusion as a bar to coverage following Mist's settlement of the Underlying Actions presents a conflict with this Court's rulings in <u>Griggs</u>, 88 N.J. 347, and <u>Fireman's</u>, 72 N.J. 63. Mist's argument is factually and legally flawed.

Mist's argument is premised upon a core factual misrepresentation that permeates its Petition. Specifically, it contends that Berkley initially communicated to Mist an interpretation of the Capacity Exclusion that only limited coverage rather than barred it entirely, but then "transformed" its position in 2020 to deny coverage. (Pb6.) The record is clear that Berkley did no such thing.

A review of Berkley's communication regarding its coverage position evinces the clear distortion made by Mist. Mist principally cites to an excerpt of Berkley's 2016 letter in which Berkley agreed to contribute to Mist's defense of the Delaware Suit. (Pb4, citing Da413.) Mist ignores, however, the clear reservation of rights set forth in that letter as to the Capacity Exclusion. Nowhere in the March 2016 letter does Berkley advise, as Mist posits, that "the exclusion only barred coverage *for that portion* of Krivulka's conduct on behalf of uninsured entities." (Pb4 (emphasis added in Mist's Petition.) To the contrary, Berkley "reserve[d its] rights under Exclusion G., which provides the following . . ." and then quoted the Capacity Exclusion. (Da413.) That reservation was not limited or qualified in any way.

Moreover, Berkley's reservation was reiterated on multiple occasions and never withdrawn. In a July 2017 letter to Mist, Berkley again expressly recited the Capacity Exclusion and reserved its rights. (Da426-Da427.) Further, Berkley's August 2017 letter then incorporated those prior reservations, and in November 2017, Berkley again asserted the Capacity Exclusion as a defense in answering this action. (Da34, Da438.) Mist's distorted version of the facts has no record support.

The Petition is also misguided regarding the law in urging unsupported expansion of this Court's long-standing jurisprudence. Mist first wrongly argues that Griggs mandates that Berkley "should be estopped from benefitting from its post-settlement No Coverage Interpretation." (Pb10-Pb11.) Mist's argument as to Griggs rests on its incorrect assertion that Berkley's reliance on its Capacity Exclusion in its cross-motion in 2020 constituted a previously "undisclosed coverage position." (Pb10-Pb11.) To the contrary, as set forth above and as the Appellate Division

recognized, "Berkley reserved its rights under the capacity exclusion repeatedly from its earliest communications with Mist regarding the claim." (Pa15.) Once that appropriate factual scenario is recognized, it is clear <u>Griggs</u> is inapposite.

Griggs provides no support for Mist's novel suggestion that an insurer that appropriately and repeatedly alerts its insured to its reservation of rights as to potential application of a policy exclusion can be barred from relying on that exclusion when coverage is evaluated by a court after the underlying claim has resolved. Griggs did not present such a scenario. Rather, the insurer there received notice of potential claim as to a fight involving its insured, and then further notice of a claim being made, but did not communicate with the insured regarding potential coverage until after suit was filed over a year later. 88 N.J. at 354. The Court framed the issue as whether the insurer "having failed for a substantial period of time to notify its insured of the possibility of noncoverage, was estopped to deny coverage of the claim against its insured." Id. at 355. Here, by contrast and as recognized by the Appellate Division, Berkley notified its insured of such possibility early and often. (Pa15.)

Tellingly, Mist's very argument as to why <u>Griggs</u> applies is only made by Mist leaving out (with ellipses) a critical clause in quoting from <u>Griggs</u>. (Pb9.) The statement Mist purports to quote reads as follows in <u>Griggs</u>: "Unreasonable delay in disclaiming coverage, or in giving notice of the possibility of such a disclaimer, even

before assuming actual control of a case or defense of an action, can estop an insurer from later repudiating responsibility under the insurance policy." 88 N.J. at 357 (emphasis added). Yet Mist's brief omits the underlined clause. (Pb9.) That clause highlights <u>Griggs</u>' inapplicability where, as here, an insurer gives its insured early and repeated notice as to an exclusion's potential application. The ruling below does not conflict with <u>Griggs</u>.⁴

Further, absent a <u>Griggs</u> estoppel (where prejudice is presumed), New Jersey law is clear that courts cannot create coverage by estoppel without establishing detrimental reliance. <u>See Greenberg & Covitz v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa.</u>, 312 N.J. Super. 251, 265 (App. Div. 1998) <u>modified on other grounds</u>, 161 N.J. 143 (1999); <u>Abboud v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh</u>, <u>Pa.</u>, 450 N.J. Super. 400, 413-14 (App. Div. 2017). There is no support in the record, and Mist has made no showing to establish the requisite detrimental reliance.

Recognizing that this case does not present circumstances warranting a presumption of prejudice to the insured under <u>Griggs</u>, Mist further advances a common law equitable estoppel argument. (Pb11-Pb12.)⁵ To establish equitable

13

⁴Mist's "accord" citation to <u>Merchants Indem. Corp. v. Eggleston</u>, 37 N.J. 114 (162), provided without explanation, should be ignored. Regardless, <u>Eggleston</u> (a waiver case) is inapt as Mist controlled its defense with its chosen counsel, while accepting Berkley's ten percent contribution subject to its reservation of rights. (Da416-417.) ⁵ Mist's efforts to raise this argument for the first time in this Petition should be denied as procedurally improper and waived. <u>Green Knight Capital</u>, <u>LLC v.</u> Calderon, 469 N.J. Super. 390, 396 (App. Div. 2021).

estoppel, plaintiffs must show that defendant engaged in conduct, either intentionally or under circumstances that induced reliance, and that plaintiffs acted or changed their position to their detriment. Knorr v. Smeal, 178 N.J. 169, 178 (2003). Tellingly, Mist made no effort before the Appellate Division to even assert any proof of prejudice, instead relied solely on Griggs based on a purported presumption of prejudice. Mist has made no factual showing regarding any purported reasonable reliance to its detriment upon Berkley's reservation of rights with respect to the Capacity Exclusion. Accordingly, Mist's additional argument is further without merit.

Mist next claims inconsistency with <u>Fireman's</u>, 72 N.J. 63, again advocating an impermissible expansion of the Court's decision. That case held that an insurer that refused in bad faith to contribute its policy limits to a reasonable settlement could not rely upon the "voluntary payments" and "no action" conditions in its policy to deny coverage. <u>Id.</u> at 66-67.

The established bad faith of the insurer -- something not present here -- was a touchstone for the analysis in <u>Fireman's</u>. <u>Id.</u> at 67-71. More importantly, the only right the insurer forfeited was its "right to control settlements" – which right the insurer sought to enforce by refusing coverage based upon the policy's "voluntary payment" and "no action" provisions. <u>Id.</u> at 71 (quoting <u>Warren v. The Employers'</u> Fire Insurance Co., 53 N.J. 308, 311-312 (1969)), for the proposition that: "Before

an insurance company will be heard to allege the breach of a contractual provision by plaintiff, the insurance company must be able to assert its own lack of any breach."); see also Baen v. Farmers Mut. Fire Ins. Co. of Salem Cnty., 318 N.J. Super. 260, 267 (App. Div. 1999) (relying upon Fireman's for proposition that "[w]hen an insurer violates its contractual obligations to the insured, it forfeits its right to control settlements.")

<u>Fireman's</u> did not hold - as Mist urges - that an insurer forfeits its ability to assert applicable policy exclusions in defense to coverage as a result of withholding consent to settle in alleged breach of the insurance contract. 72 N.J. at 71. That case did not present that question. No doubt reflecting that fact, the Petition does not cite a single case applying <u>Fireman's</u> to expand the scope of a policy's coverage as Mist would have the Court do here. (Pb12-14.) Indeed, such a misapplication of <u>Fireman's</u> would run squarely afoul of long-standing New Jersey precedent dictating that courts should not fashion a better policy for the insured than was agreed to by the parties. <u>Flomerfelt v. Cardiello</u>, 202 N.J. 432, 441 (2010).

Mist's brief argument as to <u>Fireman's</u> rests on two erroneous premises. First, it modifies the wording of Appellate Division ruling to claim that the court attributed to Berkley a certain assertion and then attacks the ruling as modified. (Pb13 (quoting, with modification, Pa15.) The actual language used by the court in this portion of the decision below does not square with Mist's read. Next, Mist repeats the factual

error that drives its Petition – the suggestion that Berkley represented to Mist that the Capacity Exclusion was not a complete bar to coverage. (Pb14.) In addition to being factually wrong as outlined above, these arguments have nothing to do with whether <u>Fireman's</u> strips an insurer of its exclusion-based defenses based on a refusal to consent to an underlying settlement. It does not, as outlined above.

In sum, the Appellate Division's decision does not conflict with <u>Griggs</u> or Fireman's.

III. THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S APPLICATION OF THE CAPACITY EXCLUSION TO BAR COVERAGE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT. [Responding to Errors Complained Of Nos. 2 and 3]

In holding the Capacity Exclusion applicable to bar coverage, the Appellate Division evaluated the exclusion's plain language as guided by the State's "well-settled jurisprudence" regarding the construction of insurance contracts. (Pa15-Pa18.) It recounted in detail a decision from the Eleventh Circuit construing a similar "capacity" exclusion under similar facts and adopted its "sound interpretation" while also footnoting case law from other jurisdictions employing "a similar approach to analyzing dual capacity claims." (Pa19 and Pa19 n.3. It then concluded the "clear language" of Berkley's Capacity Exclusion precludes coverage here because the loss alleged in the Underlying Actions involved Krivulka acting in a "dual capacity," for both Mist and Akrimax. Pa20-Pa21. Nothing about this thoroughly-reasoned construction exercise warrants the rare step of discretionary review.

The decision is entirely consistent with <u>Flomerfelt v. Cardiello</u>, 202 N.J. 432 (2010). <u>Flomerfelt</u> did not construe a "capacity" exclusion, which in and of itself should dispense with this argument. Mist nonetheless claims conflict with <u>Flomerfelt</u> because, it posits, the ruling below did not construe the exclusion "narrowly" and did not find "arising out of" ambiguous. Pb16-Pb18. To the contrary, there is no conflict with Flomerfelt or any other New Jersey precedent here.

Mist's argument ignores entirely that Berkley's Capacity Exclusion contains different language than the exclusion in Flomerfelt, which renders this Court's decision in Norman Int'l, Inc. v. Admiral Ins. Co., 251 N.J. 538, 552, recon. den. 251 N.J. 4790 (2020), the more appropriate touchstone. While Flomerfelt construed the linking phrase "arising out of," the Capacity Exclusion contains other linking language such as "in any way involving," akin to the connecting phrases found in Norman to broaden the subject exclusion's application. 251 N.J. at 555. The Appellate Division ruling appropriately relied upon Norman and creates no conflict with Flomerfelt. Pa17-Pa18 (citing Norman, 251 N.J. at 542).6

Mist further claims conflict with <u>Flomerfelt</u> because the ruling below held the exclusion applicable without "definitive" findings from the Underlying Actions.

17

⁶ Also worth noting, insofar as <u>Flomerfelt</u> involved the construction of "arising out of," it did so in an entirely distinguishable context – where the actual facts, as opposed to what was alleged in the underlying complaint, might or might not implicate the controlled dangerous substances exclusion at issue. 202 N.J. at 451.

(Pb14-15.) Flomerfelt is distinguishable on this point because there, the Court determined that the underlying complaint allegations obligated the insurer to defend; it declined, however, to rule on indemnity coverage because the record did not provide a "definitive answer" as to a causation issue dispositive of whether an exclusion applied. 202 N.J. at 457. Here, by contrast, the Appellate Division found that the "the loss alleged by Celestial" implicated the Capacity Exclusion such that Berkley did not owe coverage. Pa20-Pa21. It is black letter New Jersey law that where the underlying complaint allegations create no potential that the insured will be held liable for a judgment that is covered by the subject policy, there can be no duty to indemnify. Voorhees v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 128 N.J. 165 (1992). That is, the absence of an indemnity obligation can unquestionably be determined by the underlying suit's allegations, Trustees of Princeton University v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co., 293 N.J. Super. 296, 301, and it is irrelevant whether it was proven in the Underlying Actions that Krivulka actually engaged in the acts complained of. As the court below recognized, the underlying claims as alleged indisputably involved Krivulka acting in a "dual capacity" such that the exclusion was squarely implicated and Berkley owed no coverage. (Pa20-Pa21; Da347-Da348; Da352-Da353; Da1125-Da1126; Da1135-Da1137.) Flomerfelt therefore provides no basis for certification.

IV. THE RULING BELOW PRESENTS NO QUESTION OF GENERAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE AND NO "INTEREST OF JUSTICE"

CONCERN UNDER R. 2:12-4.

We dispense lastly with two prongs of <u>Rule</u> 2:12-4 that Mist mentions with little elaboration. First, it argues certification is warranted because the appeal presents a question of general public importance, specifically "this State's public policies to promote settlement and make efficient use of judicial and party resources." (Pb2) Mist ignores that the question to which it points must be one "which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court or is similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court." <u>R.</u> 2:12-4. It makes no case for those qualifiers being satisfied, and they are not.

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